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Abstract: The second part of the paper on the repositories 
located in Sopot and Gdańsk-Oliwa refers to the articles on Polish 
conservation and museum repositories published in the previous 
issues of the ‘Muzealnictwo’ Annual, particularly in the 2018 
issue No. 59. The paper covers the period 1945–1949, in which 
the first stage of the transport of the artistic collections to the 
Polish Central Museum Repository in the Gdańsk Voivodeship 
(PCZM) took place. Established in 1945 by the Ministry of Culture 
and Art (MKiS) and the Central Directorate of Museums and 
Collection Protection (NDMiOZ), the institution was meant to 
collect moveable heritage that on the grounds of the decrees 
issued at the time was becoming property of the Treasury of 
State. The main PCZM’s seat was located in Sopot, the second 
in Gdańsk-Oliwa. The activity of the Repository is described, 

and so are the responsibilities of its staff and management, 
number of monuments collected at a given period, operation 
principles, administrative reporting, financing, outlays on the 
edifices of the Repository buildings. Furthermore, legal and 
political conditioning for PCZM’s operations are given. The 
issued decrees and ordinances changing the political regime in 
the country are given; they had a direct impact on the property 
collected at the Repository: abandoned, former German, and 
former manorial and on its ownership transfer. Moreover, 
extracts from instructions, orders, and circulars issued by the 
then administration, and affecting PCZM’s goals and operating 
are quoted; additionally, localities from which objects were 
transferred to PCZM are given, and sources to further investigate 
the topic are pointed to.

Keywords: Polish Central Museum Repository (PCZM), Gdańsk Voivodeship, Ministry of Culture and Art (MKiS) and 
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The present article is the second part of the overview of 
the Polish museum and conservation repository estab-
lished in the wake of WW II whose activity covers Gdansk 
Pomerania.1 Making reference to the Author’s earlier stud-
ies published in the previous issues of the ‘Muzealnictwo’ 
Annual,2 it covers 1945–48 when the first transportation 
campaigns of heritage objects took place. Not exhausting 
the topic, it allowed the Author to point out to motifs and 
sources for further more thorough studies.

The Polish Central Museum Repository of artistic collec-
tions for the Gdansk Voivodeship (PCZM), as it was referred 
to, a state administration institution, was created in 1945 by 
the Voivodeship Office in Gdansk (UWG) as commissioned 

by the Ministry of Culture and Art (MKiS) and the Central 
Directorate of Museums and Collection Protection (NDMiOZ). 
It was established in order to collect movable heritage items 
from the territory of the Gdansk Voivodeship.

Three buildings were allocated to serve PCZM’s purposes. 
The Head Office was located in Sopot, in the villa at 24 
Abrahama Street. This address3 was to house paintings, fur-
niture, and small pieces of art.4 What was transported there 
was more valuable material requiring direct care and a dry 
neat interior.5 The villa taken over by MKiS served at the same 
time as the seat of the Baltic Institute, this causing inconveni- 
ence for the residents and employees of both institutions, 
particularly due to the growing number of historic movable 
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objects brought to the villa by operational groups. As of 1948, 
the edifice was exclusively the property of MKiS. A part of the 
buildings was assigned to serve as flats of MKiS’s delegates, 
and it also housed a small reference library with books on art 
history and a conservation workshop.6

The second PCZM building, serving the purpose until 
1980, was the former Abbots’ Granary7 in Gdansk-Oliwa, in 
the Oliwa Park, not far from the former Cistercian Convent, 
whose address at the time was 12c Opacka Street. The 
Repository could use five storeys of the granary. Collections 
amassed for PCZM were also deposited in the two-storeyed 
and two-winged former stable building, adjacent to the 
Granary in the southern part of the Oliwa Park, as well as 
in the 18th-century Abbots’ coachhouse

From 1928 the Monastery housed the ‘Oliwa Museum’: 
State Regional Museum of the History of Gdansk (Staatliches 
Landesmuseum für Danziger Geschichte8). It was in the 
above-mentioned facilities that the German Conservator 
Office had collected heritage pieces evacuated from Gdansk.

The Oliwa Museum Repository was to receive church wood 
and larger pieces of art as well as more precious objects from 
the Gdansk Museum that did not have appropriate conditions 
(…) and plaster casts, artistic iron grating, tiles, historical ob-
jects of folk households, boats, canoes from early historical 
period.9 The objects collected there also included parts of 
church inventories transported from communes and official 
Gdansk listed buildings, from Gdansk historic houses. In the 
words of the Department Head Janusz Urbański in the re-
port from October 1945, the Campaign to Protect Movable 
Historic Objects10 it was the historic monuments previously 
taken away by Germans, by us already partially saved and 
preserved that were placed there.11 In July 1946, the concept 
of yet another location for the Repository was suggested; this 
time it was the refectory of the Oliwa Abbey.12 The collected 
fragments of historic buildings, fragments from tidied streets 
and edifices, and apart from stone sculpture also iron ele-
ments, as well as candle holders left over in churches, apart 

from the two main PCZM seats, were gradually placed in ten 
lapidaria throughout Gdansk and Sopot.13

Exerting the function until 29 July 1946,14 Prof. Jan Kilarski 
was the first PCZM’s Manager. He was succeed by Zdzisław 
Kałędkiewicz,15 (holding the position until April 1947), who 
took over PCZM museum objects from Prof. Jan Kilarski 
in the presence of a commission. From 18 April 1947 to 
25 October 1948, PCZM was run by Czesław Wierusz- 
-Kowalski.16 Edward Falkowski17 and Jan Olesiuk18 were 
PCZM’s caretakers, lodging in the Oliwa Repository build-
ing. The head authorities of PCZM directly reported to the 
Office of the Gdansk Voivodeship Monument Conservator. 
Currently, the Repository which is still housed in the former 
coachhouse in Oliwa and since 2014 in St Gertrude Bastion, 
continues within the structure of the Gdansk Voivodeship 
Office for Preservation of Objects of Cultural Heritage.

Administratively, PCZM operated analogically to other in-
stitutions that were being established within the new urban 
tissue of Gdansk. Provision of the essential materials for the 
Repository were possible only once appropriate applications 
had been submitted to respective offices, for example the 
allotment of coal for heating, a motorbike, a telephone line, 
vehicles to transport the objects.19 In 1946, refurbishing of 
the Oliwa PCZM buildings was conducted. Windows were 
renovated, fire extinguishers placed, and an emergency 
telephone line was connected.20 Plans for 1947 foresaw the 
completion of the refurbishing of the Repository buildings 
and connection of the city telephone landline.21

The financing of the transportation campaigns, at the 
time conducted throughout the whole country, was man-
aged by NDMiOZ whose Director, having approved each ap-
plication, would issue an instruction in writing to pay out 
the resources to cover the costs of a definite transporta-
tion, to the Head of the National Campaign for Preserving 
Movable Monuments at the Culture Department of the 
Voivodeship Office in Wrocław. The latter, in the event 
of transportation campaigns conducted by PCZM staff, 

1. Hand-over protocol of trans-
ferring the Museum Repository 
in Sopot; Archives of the Monu-
ment Conservator in Gdańsk
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addressed correspondence to the Voivodeship Conservator 
of Monuments in Gdansk (UKWG), recommending the pay-
ing out of the sum applied for from the resources that had 
been allocated to the Voivodeship Office in Gdansk (UWG).22 
Meanwhile, objects’ packaging, loading, unloading, and trans-
portation were covered from the budget of the Department 
of Culture and Art (WKiS). The used financing was accounted 
for after the objects had been transported to PCZM.23 
Furthermore, financing coming from WKiS was allocated to 
refurbishing, equipment purchases, and to the salaries of the 
full-time staff and individuals employed occasionally, as well 
as to kindergarten costs of the children of the staff. From the 
beginning of its existence on 31 December 1946, UWG WKiS, 
using the financing from MKiS subsidies, allocated 410.000 
PLN to museums, 950.000 to PCZM, and 900.000 to the City 
Museum of Gdańsk. 24 From this balance it is clear that the 
costs of the Central Repository did constitute quite a substan-
tial sum in the Department’s budget. However, they were not 
sums that could suffice to cover the basic needs, particular-
ly to secure the collected works. The condition for receiving 
a monthly subsidy to conduct the activity of WKiS, including 
the Repository, was to submit financial reports in reference to 
work plans, accompanied by a factual justification.

The creation, goal, and operation modes of repositories, 
apart from decrees and regulations, were decided upon by 
guidelines, instructions, ordinances, and circulars of the 
central and local governments. They actually defined the 
course of their activity. The first of such documents that 
was of impact for the presently discussed topic was the de-
tailed Instruction for the operational group headed by Prof. 
Walicki, and signed by the Deputy Minister of Culture and 
Art. The instruction must have been created just before 13 
April 1945, since it is the date borne on the preserved busi-
ness-trip document of Prof. Walicki.25

The Instruction formulates goals and means of implementa-
tion of this operational group. It is worthwhile to quote the en-
tire Instruction for being so detailed within different art areas.

Instruction for Citizen Prof. Michał Walicki PhD, Zbigniew 
Turski26 and Feliks Smosarski,27delegated by the Ministry of 
Culture and Art to the territory of the Gdansk Voivodeship 
upon the request of Citizen Voivode.

1. Citizen Walicki PhD is the Group Head.
2. �Upon arrival, Group Head shall report to Citizen Voivode 

to receive detailed instructions and guidelines as for the 
means of performing Group’s tasks within the scope 
commissioned by the Minister.

3. �Group members shall provide mutual assistance to 
each other in performing tasks that do not strictly fall 
within their expertise. If a need arises for them to be 
joined by experts in theatre and literature, they shall 
inform Minister of that instantly.

4. �Group members shall establish close contacts with the 
delegates of the Minister of Education28 `for the pur-
pose of preserving libraries and archives.

5. �Within the scope of monument protection, the most 
urgent tasks include:

a) �wherever possible, introduce temporary protection of 
immovable monuments and their furnishing;

b) investigate the state of public and private collections;
c) �preliminarily secure these collections: a/ in situ, b/ by 

transporting them to museums or collection centres;
d) �elaborate conclusions as for further preservation and 

conservation actions necessary for the conservation 
of immovable monuments, prioritizing the necessary 
works in relation to monuments’ value and the degree 
of threat, as well as museums and collections;

6. As for music-related issues the tasks include:
a) �secure instruments, musical libraries, and premises for: 

a) musical school in Gdansk and possibly in other localities 
in the Gdansk Voivodeship, b/concert movement (con-
cert auditorium), c/Association of Musicians;

b) �collect overall approximate data related to the network 
of musical schools and musical movement;

c) provide care to local musicians;

2. Business trip docu-
ment of Prof. Michał Wa-
licki issued on 13 April 
1945; Archives of the Po-
lish Academy of Sciences 
in Warsaw
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d) �establish Organisational Committee of the Association 
of Musicians.

7. As for theatre-related issues the tasks include:
a) �investigate whether theatre buildings in Gdansk, 

Gdynia and other places have survived; and if usable, 
secure them to prevent destruction and looting of the 
remaining assets and theatre devices;

b) secure preserved theatre assets (…) with particular care;
c) �subsequently, inventory theatre assets and submit rel-

evant report to the Ministry of Culture and Art.
8. With respect to fine arts, the following should be done:
a) �investigate whether any works and art collections have 

survived, where they have been relocated; if found, se-
cure them;

b) �investigate what artistic schools used to operate and 
what has happened to their equipment and collections; 
secure any found movable equipment and interiors;

c) �find Polish visual artists who have survived and provide 
them with care;

d) �investigate whether there is any available accommoda-
tion for a permanent or temporary settlement of groups 
of artists interested in Pomerania, Gdansk, and the sea;

e) secure stores of painting equipment, paints, etc.
f) �investigate the possibility of finding a house for the future 

Trade Association of Musicians, Writers, and Artists and 
of resort premises at the seaside; the premises to allow 
working environment for artists, writers, and musicians 
should have a canteen and guest rooms for visiting 
artists and writers.

9. �With respect to works related to the Literature 
Department the following should be done:

a) �investigate if and how soon a Polish literary magazine 
as a Polishness propaganda organ could be launched 
in Gdansk (printing house, paper resources, etc.). An 
appropriate group of writers could be dispatched there 
to deal with the question;

b) �investigate and inform the Ministry when and whether 
to send writers to the Gdansk Voivodeship so that there 
is accommodation and food available for them to col-
lect impressions and materials to write reports and lit-
erary pieces on Gdansk: to be published in Polish literary 
and general magazines, possibly in a book;

10. �Group members shall run activity logs and upon return 
shall submit a detailed report. If an opportunity arises, 
they shall send in brief updates. Singed Minister.29

The next document, important for the further course 
of events and amassing PCZM’s collections, is the letter 
of Gdansk Voivode of October 194530 and addressed to 
his subordinate offices within the Gdansk Voivodeship on 
the necessity to register monuments present within the 
Voivodeship. It contains recommendation to consult the pro-
visions of the pre-war Act on the Protection of Monuments, 
and particularly those of its articles which defined the con-
cept of ‘movable monuments’ when31 qualifying an ob-
ject as a monument. In November 1945, Gdansk Voivode 
Mieczysław Szczęsny Okęcki Eng.32 worded the content of 
the poster To Citizens Poles Returning to the Homeland from 
former German territories and other European countries. 
(…) To you, Citizens, who are returning from the territo-
ries to which our national properties have been relocated, 
who were frequently forced to transport them, or who when 

passing through different countries had the chance to come 
across objects which in your opinion could be of Polish prov-
enance, it is you, Citizens, that the whole Polish Nation is re-
questing to reveal such locations without undue delay, since 
there is still opportunity to regain the property relocated 
from Poland. There shall be 5% object’s value fee paid to 
those who disclose necessary information (…).33

In early March 1946, the Head of the UWG Department 
of Culture and Art Janusz Urbański issued a circular referring 
to the frequent at the time procedure of destroying trees 
and parks. The circular also contained the paragraph refer-
ring to the ‘Deposits from Gdansk’: not everything that the 
German authorities evacuated from Gdansk has been found. 
Please, instruct commune offices to conduct investigation 
and search for the purpose.

In May 1946, the Ministry of Regained Territories instructed 
voivodes active within the Claimed Territories34 for state 
institutions to submit to cultural departments of respective 
Voivodeship offices lists of objects of artistic, historical, or cul-
tural worth that can be found in their territory:35 All the organs 
of state authorities which have information on depositories or 
single art works from former German property, abandoned, 
or from centres that underwent the agrarian reform (…) which 
have not been covered with state organ supervision are re-
quested to send written information about them to respective 
UWG WKiS in whose territory these are found. As the legal 
grounds for such an activity the Ordinance of the President of 
the Council of Ministers (PRM) Edward Osóbka-Morawski was 
given.36 In the following months the Ministries: of Regained 
Territories, Culture and Art, and of Public Administration tried 
to outpace each other in sending around PRM’s Ordinance, 
reminding of the obligation to enact it.

It was also in May 1946 that NDMiOZ recommended 
that Voivodeship Offices, including UWG WKiS, should put 
together reports on the state of the protection of formerman- 
orial monuments37 within their Voivodeship, filed together 
with a detailed action plan to protect and transport them, 
which should be conducted in summer and autumn months. 
The following shall be provided and marked on the enclosed 
map: localities from which post-manorial property will need 
to be transported, as well as the type and weight of the 
portion of monuments to be picked up from that locality. 
Museums and larger repositories foreseen as collecting 
centres with approximate interior size. Routes that need 
to be covered with the total number of kilometres stated, 
and foreseen transportation activities within a given month; 
staff Team meant to take part in the process; transporta-
tion means available to the Voivodeship Office that can be 
used for the transportation. Financial resources that the 
Voivodeship Office and museums cooperating with it can al-
locate to the process; What needs to be provided are estim- 
ations of additional transportation and financial resources 
that could be necessary to implement the presented pro-
gramme. Subvention applications shall be based on detailed 
cost estimates. Furthermore, all the potential obstacles and 
difficulties that might arise in the field in the course of the 
campaign of protecting and transporting of former man- 
orial property shall be pointed to. This year’s transportation 
campaign should aim at an entire protection of former-man- 
orial property within the Voivodeship. MKiS instructs for the 
above to be treated as urgent and with utmost urgency.38
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A month later, also MKiS issued a circular, this one with 
respect to the transfer of objects, on this occasion historic 
and artistic that read the following: all the fine arts works, 
or objects of artistic, historical, or cultural value, coming 
from abandoned, former-German or former-manorial prop-
erty, which are currently in the possession or administration 
of the Voivodeship Culture and Art Departments or offices 
reporting to them, as well as in museums, depositories, col-
lecting centres, can be transferred or made available ex-
clusively upon a written instruction to do so by NDMiOZ at 
MKiS. This also applies to the cases when the recipients of 
such art works or objects are authority unities as well as of-
fices and institutions.39

The content of the below circular was criticized by the 
Museum and Monument Protection Office at UWG who 
were of the opinion that putting in force the instruction 
contained there will cause an immeasurable increase in 
difficulties in the transportation of museum objects, since 
such offices as on a commune or county level, as well as Land 
and Liquidation Offices which are predominantly in charge 
of the art works and their Repositories, basing themselves 
on the quoted circular will expect in agreement with the 
circular a written instruction from NDMiOZ. The circular may 
be effective in two cases only, namely: a/ restriction of the 
activity of City Management in the transportation campaign 
of museum objects, and b/ parishes applying to WKiS for 
the return of church furbishing. This criticism was accepted. 
WKiS Head Janusz Urbański decided to temporarily interrupt 
sending out the circular.40

From the legal acts it seems clear that the implementation 
of the Campaign of Protecting Movable Monuments 
proclaimed by NDMiOZ at MKiS was reserved only for this 
governmental agency. However, documentation preserved 
from the period illustrates its faulty organization: superposing 
of competences, competition for the dispersed collections 
between local and central authorities, and in many a case 
also lack of will of the representative of both to cooperate.

Let us resort to one example here: the letter of Gdansk 
Voivode Janusz Urbański to the Mayor of the City of Gdansk 
dated 19 Aug. 1946 informing that the Municipal WKiS without 
prior communication with the Voivode WKiS is conducting 
transportation of liturgical and museum equipment, placing 
transported objects in the building of the City Museum. 
As much as understanding the intention to thus enrich the 
Museum’s collection, I am, however, obliged to point to the 
incorrect procedure in this respect, since according to NDMiOZ’s 
Ordinance, the exclusive right to manage the preserved 
monuments is with the Voivodeship WKiS or Voivodeship 
Conservator. The campaign conducted by the Municipal 
WKiSk causes confusion in commune and county offices, 
therefore not objecting to the assistance that comes on the 
part of the Municipal WKiS, having at its disposal as can be 
seen appropriate means to conduct the campaign in question, 
I am, nevertheless, obliged to draw the attention to the need to 
comply in this respect with the issued ordinances, particularly 
as certain cases have been witnessed of incorrect depositing 
of church objects in the building of the City Museum instead of 
Repositories established for the purpose.41

PCZM employees, complying with the quoted rules 
and directives, gathered monuments, art works, artistic 
objects, collecting them not only from where they had 

been hidden by the German administration, but also from 
land estates used by the institutions that were being formed 
at the time. They collected objects found on the premises 
these institutions occupied, and also collected them from 
abandoned private flats and houses now occupied by new 
residents. 42 Collecting of the movables was possible upon 
the presentation of a document authorizing either a definite 
individual or the bearer. 43 Such authorizations were issued 
by: NDMiOZ Director, Voivodeshipe Conservaotr, Voivode, 
or the WKiS Head. When the objects were handed out, 
a hand-over protocol was prepared. The transportation from 
the Voivodeship territory to PCZM could be conducted upon 
a prior permit from the Ministry of Regained Territories.

In 1945, across the Gdansk Voivodeship territory there 
still existed almost 40 repositories, depositories, in the care 
of Voivodeship commune eldership, earlier arranged by the 
German administration.44 In May 1946, there still remained 
34. These repositories contained, among others, furbishing 
of Gdansk churches, the Artus Manor, the Uphagen House, 
the Town Hall, as well as the collections of the Oliwa 
Museum.

Given the difficulties in transporting collections to 
PCZM from the entire territory of the Gdansk Voivodeship, 
apart from the former German repositories, also smaller 
repositories were arranged at relatively safe locations.45 
They were the destination to which objects were 
transported from so-called collection centres, e.g. manors, 
flats, institutions. This was done, since transportation to 
the Central Repository was difficult, in some cases even 
impossible due to the state of roads, bridges, and shortage 
of transportation and financial means. An average route 
from the collection centre to a given locality with minor 
repositories and back amounted to 200 km. However, as 
reported in a May 1946 document written by the WKiS 
Head, not all of the collection centres had been reached 
by UWG officials.46 Let us quote here the Elbląg repository: 
Historic objects found with local forces under the rubble of 
the former historic museum and garden at 4 Wigilijna Street 
were taken to the storage of the Municipal Department of 
Sanitation in Wolności Street in Elbląg, following which 
they were transported to the Museum Repository in 
Łączności Street in Elbląg.47 In 1946, 50% of movables were 
transported from minor depositories to PCZM.48

Over the first months, and in some cases even years, 
the museums: the regional one in Darłowo, 49 Słupsk, 
Kwidzyń, and the City Museum in Gdansk, played the role 
of depositories, repositories. The museums in question, 
sometimes without harmonizing their activities with UWG,50 
were also involved in the transportation of objects. Due to 
the shortage of qualified staff and sufficient financial means, 
it was difficult to provide sufficient care to the objects 
collected at the museums and repositories, and prevent 
them from being robbed.

The supervision of local repositories, care for the security 
of historic objects collected there, and also in churches, both 
those in use and unused, ranked among the responsibilities 
of UWG WKiS, and theoretically also PCZM staff. In the 
documentation from the period there are sufficiently many 
admonitions and guidelines addressed to the local authorities 
to show the least of care for the amassed collections.51 

Already in June 1945, UWG WKiS issued a circular addressed 
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to Commune Elderships and Municipalities: in order to 
protect precious monuments of church art abundant in 
churches/ both Catholic and Evangelical/ within the Gdansk 
Voivodeship, and also in order to prevent looting of valuable 
deposits from Gdansk museums and churches often kept in 
those churches, instruction has to be given for the churches 
to remain closed outside the service hours, namely for unused 
churches to remain closed at all time (…).52

Repositories and museums performed the same functions: 
they were to collect, store, register, and conserve.53 It is likely 
that precisely for this very reason state and local administra-
tion treated them both as equal. This can be illustrated with 
the NDMiOZ correspondence addressed to PCZM, containing, 
similarly as that sent to museums, questions for their financial 
plans for 1947-49 related to: construction, reconstruction, 
alterations, adaptations, buildings’ refurbishing, equipment, 
purchase of museum objects, publications, as well as costs of 
the transportation of former manorial and former German 
property, or related to the collection exchange and costs in-
curred for organizational, administrative, and personnel pur-
poses.54 Following the years of intense transportation cam-
paigns, and a relative ordering of the resources, exhibitions 
were organized at PCZM; also supervision was provided over 
the objects transferred to other institutions for use.

In the reports submitted to NDMiOZ there is frequent 
mention of the inventorying of the resources as an activity 
consuming the majority of the time. From the 1947 monthly 
reports, it can be seen that throughout the whole year the 
activities conducted at PCZM focused on inventorying of 

collections, ordering the museum inventory transported 
from respective localities.55

The collected monuments underwent some conservation 
procedures which were originally conducted at the Central 
Conservation Laboratory in Warsaw,56 as of 1946, at its branch 
located at the Sopot Repository,57 while as of 1947, in Gdansk- 
-Wrzeszcz.58 It was already in 1945 that Prof. Jan Borowski 
appealed to NDMiOZ to establish a conservation laboratory 
in view of a poor state of polychromes and polychrome 
sculptures in Gdansk historic buildings and the disastrous state 
of sculptures brought to museum repositories which require 
instant preservation. His proposal implied for the conservation 
laboratory in Gdansk to be a branch of the Central Laboratory 
in Warsaw, pointing to the necessity to conduct works locally, 
given the works’ state and size. The situation like this continued 
in 1945 and 1946, however the 1947 report reads: at the 
instigation of NDMiOZ at MKiS, in the person of the MiOZ 
General Director Prof. St. Lorentz and General Conservator Prof. 
J. Zachwatowicz, State Conservation Laboratory for Monuments 
of Architecture, Painting, and Sculpture, as a branch of the 
Warsaw Laboratory, with its seat in Wrzeszcz, was established.

Prof. Borowski’s plans came true. The established Conservation 
Laboratory covered the whole Gdansk Voivodeship, while its task 
was to preserve art works scattered throughout the whole ter-
ritory which following warfare remained unattended under un-
acceptable conditions threatening with their total destruction.59

The objects collected at PCZM were transferred as depos-
its to varied institutions, also to decorate newly established 
offices.60 Moreover, works of art or architectural elements 

3. List of monuments found in for-
mer German repositories within the 
Gdańsk Voivodeship transferred to 
the National Museum in Warsaw; 
State Archives in Gdańsk
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coming from historic buildings, including churches, were 
given as deposits to the administrators of those buildings. 
Such procedures are continued to date (sic!).

In some cases, depositories, repositories were transformed 
into museums, and out of the objects collected at PCZM 
monuments were transferred to museums. Interestingly, 
not only did the City Museum of Gdansk recover from PCZM 
museum objects that had belonged to its collections, but it 
also received objects of other provenance.61

When objects from PCZM were transferred to other enti-
ties, a hand-over protocol was prepared, this singed by the 
Repository Manager and representative of the institution 
that was collecting them.62 The protocols provided clauses 
related to security rules and care for the preservation state 
of the loaned objects. In certain cases, a passage was added 
signalling the necessity to conduct conservation preserva-
tion works. All the works on the monuments were to be 
carried out exclusively in communication with the Voivode 
Conservator. The content of the preserved hand-over pro-
tocols made when movables were collected, similarly as the 
preserved lists of objects that were kept at lapidaria and the 
Repository, as incomplete as they are, constitutes a priceless 
source of knowledge for conducting provenance research.

In 1945–48, movable monuments transported to PCZM 
came from the following localities and estates: Krokowa, 
Charbrowa, Jodłowna, Kończewice, Rzucew, Mierzeszyn, 
Kadyn, Hopowo, Kłodawa, Radziejew, Bietowo, Bytowo, 
Wielbrandow, Szpęgawsk, Sobowidz, Lichnowy, Lisowice, 
Nowy Kościół, Wejherowo, Sierakowice, Jurandowo, 
Bolszewo, Wandzin, Kręg, Kopytkowo, Zajączkowo, Rokocin, 
as well as Kartuzy, Elbląg, Malbork, Kwidzyń, and Słupsk63.

The present outline does not allow for a full list of 

movable objects that were first collect at PCZM, and later 
handed out.64 Recreation of collection transfers goes well 
beyond the paper’s scope. Scattered and incomplete source 
material has been partly preserved in the archival resources 
of the Voivodeship Gdank Conservator, partly in the State 
Archive in Gdansk in the followings sets: Gdansk Voivodeship 
Office, Gdansk Municipality, and Gdansk Municipal National 
Council; also possibly amidst the archival material collected 
in respective museums. The outlined topic requires a more 
thorough analysis of the mentioned archival sets, as well as 
further preliminary searches and investigation. All the more 
so, as today the purpose of a repository is most frequently 
understood as a place of temporary storage. Meanwhile, 
those repositories managed by NDMiOZ were devised as 
agencies exerting ownership and management functions 
over collections of movables which, abiding by the acts and 
decrees formulated at the time,65 became property of the 
Treasury of State. Such was the plan, however its implemen-
tation requires further investigation.

Overall, however, the conclusion seems irrefutable that 
had it not been for the effort to organize museum and 
conservation repositories for the objects of old culture in 
Gdansk Pomerania and in other voivodeships located just 
beyond the front line, under the changing political circum-
stances, and given the peculiar activity of the Red Army 
war commands66 as well as the exchange of the popula-
tion, many more cultural assets would have been looted 
by different entities. As imperfect as the Campaign might 
have been, it is to it that museums owe the objects in their 
collections that are of German and Polish provenance, and 
also those that come from church collections, religious as-
sociations, and others.
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monuments of German provenance by force of law become property of the Treasury of State. Art. 2.4.c of the discussed Decree excludes property of legal 
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